IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC00-1555

CITY OF NORTH LAUDERDALE,

Appellant,

vs.

SMM PROPERTIES, INC., et al.,

Appellees.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT, CITY OF NORTH LAUDERDALE

On Appeal From the Fourth District Court of Appeal Case No. 98-03525

ROBERT L. NABORS Florida Bar No. 097421 GREGORY T. STEWART Florida Bar No. 203718 VIRGINIA SAUNDERS DELEGAL Florida Bar No. 989932 Nabors, Giblin & Nickerson, P.A. 3099 East Commercial Boulevard 315 South Calhoun Street Suite 800 Post Office Box 11008 Tallahassee, Florida 32302 (850) 224-4070 (850) 224-4073 (Facsimile)

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS AND CASE

Fire rescue services in the City of North Lauderdale<sup>1</sup> are provided through the City's Fire Rescue Division. At the time this case began, the City operated one station that housed two pumpers, one utility truck and two command vehicles. The City's Fire Rescue Division is a fully consolidated program that serves both the fire and emergency medical needs of property within the City. (R. at II-362)(Final Judgment at 2). All City firefighters are crosstrained to provide both fire suppression and emergency medical services. (R. at II-362)(Final Judgment at 2). The City also provides incentive pay to 23 public safety officers<sup>2</sup> so that they can be cross-trained in fire suppression and first response medical capabilities. These officers respond with the City's fire rescue personnel, thereby increasing the effectiveness and response capabilities of the City's Fire Rescue Division. (R. at V-917) (Affidavit of Rudy Neumann). Additionally, the City's response protocol generally requires that both fire and rescue-type vehicles respond to all calls for service. (R. at II-362)(Final Judgment at 2).

The rescue component of the consolidated Fire Rescue Division provides on-the-scene stabilization at the property to which the City is called. At the time this action was filed, emergency

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The City is a municipal corporation, organized and operating under the laws of the State of Florida, with home rule powers under Article VIII, section 2(b), Florida Constitution and sections 166.021 and 166.041, Florida Statutes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Fire Rescue Division is a division of the City's Public Safety Department.

medical and transport services were provided through a two-year contract with Broward County Government. The purpose of the contract with Broward County was to supplement and enhance the first response medical and firefighting capabilities of the City.<sup>3</sup> Under the agreement, the City was provided an Advanced Life Support ("ALS") response from two Broward County units: one medic transport unit stationed in the City's firehouse and one ALS fire engine company located elsewhere. This agreement resulted in the staffing of a minimum of four cross-trained firefighter-paramedics daily, thereby increasing the total number of the on-duty, cross-trained firefighter-paramedics in the City by 100 percent. The agreement required the City to upgrade a pumper truck to an ALS responder and for it to be staffed with at least one cross-trained firefighterparamedic.

The City and Broward County both responded to major medical calls (advanced life support). The City's Fire Rescue Division responds with four firefighters and two public safety officers to structure fires. One of those four responding firefighters is always a paramedic. For medical emergencies, the City responds with four firefighters and one public safety officer. (R. at V-917)(Affidavit of Randy Neumann). Broward County responds to all emergency medical calls with two firefighter-paramedics. Additionally, Broward County and the City entered into a mutual aid

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  The cost of the contract to this City was \$318,000. That amount was included in the City's budget for purposes of the special assessment at issue here. <u>See</u> R. at V-917 (Affidavit of Randy Neumann).

agreement for fire emergencies at no additional cost to the City, thereby reducing response times in certain portions of the City. (R. at V-917)(Affidavit of Randy Neumann).

In 1996, the City chose to fund its fire rescue operations through the imposition of a non-ad valorem special assessment. Through Ordinance 96-6-901, the City declared that the special assessment could be used for "the funding of fire rescue services, facilities or programs providing special benefits to property within the City . . ." (R. at V-807)(Affidavit of John Stunson, Attachment B).<sup>4</sup> For example, the City made the following legislative declaration:

> Fire rescue services possess a logical relationship to the use and enjoyment of improved property by: (1) protecting the value of the improvements and structures through the provision of available fire rescue services; (2) protecting the life and safety of intended occupants in the use and enjoyment of improvements and structures within improved parcels; (3) lowering the cost of fire insurance by the presence of a professional and comprehensive fire rescue program within the City; and (4) containing the spread of fire incidents occurring on vacant property with the potential to spread and endanger the structures and occupants of improved property.

(R. at V-807-08)(Affidavit of John Stunson, Attachment B, Ord. 96-6-901, § 1.04(A)). In addition, the City specifically and legislatively determined that these special benefits extended to the entire integrated fire emergency medical services program.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Only real property on which there was located a structure was subject to the assessment; thus, no vacant property was assessed.

The combined fire control and emergency medical services of the City under its existing consolidated fire rescue program enhances and strengthens the relationship of such services to the use and enjoyment of Buildings within improved parcels of property within the City.

(R. at V-808)(Affidavit of John Stunson, Attachment B, Ord. 96-6-

901, § 1.04(B)). Finally, the City declared that

[t]he combined fire control and emergency medical services of the City under its existing consolidated fire rescue program enhance the value of business and commercial property that is improved by the existence or construction of a Building which enhanced value can be anticipated to be reflected in the rental charge or value of such business or commercial property.

(R. at V-808)(Affidavit of John Stunson, Attachment B, Ord. 96-6-901, § 1.04(C)).

After notice and a public hearing, the City Council adopted a Final Resolution that established the rate of the fire rescue assessment against property located within the City for the ensuing fiscal year and indicated that the assessments would be collected on the property tax bill. (R. at V-887) (Affidavit of John Stunson, Attachment D).

After the imposition of the special assessment, several commercial property owners within the City filed suit against the City, challenging the validity of its fire rescue special assessment. On June 20, 1997, the trial court granted a partial summary judgment, finding that the City's fire rescue special assessment provided a special benefit to property. (R. at VI-1086). In July of 1998, a bench trial was held on the remaining issues, including whether the assessment was fairly and reasonably apportioned among the benefited properties. Following the trial, the court entered a Final Judgment upholding the special assessment and concluding that the fire rescue assessment was fairly and reasonably apportioned among the benefited properties. (R. at V-391) (Final Judgment at 8). The commercial property owners appealed the Final Judgment to the Fourth District Court of Appeal. In June of 2000, the Fourth District Court, in an en banc opinion, reversed the ruling of the trial court on the issue of special benefit and held that the special assessment could not be used to fund the emergency medical services component of the City's integrated fire rescue program. However, the Fourth District Court of Appeal certified two questions of great public importance as follows:

- Do emergency medical services (EMS) provide a special benefit to property?
- 2. Can a fire rescue program funded by a special assessment use its equipment and personnel to provide emergency medical services for accidents and illnesses under <u>Lake</u> <u>County v. Water Oak Management</u> Corp., 695 So. 2d 667 (Fla. 1997)?

<u>SMM Properties, Inc. v. City of North Lauderdale</u>, 760 So. 2d 998, 1004 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000). The City timely filed its Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction of this Court.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The issue of this case is one that has an answer in the Florida law. The City's legislative decision to provide a level of medical service that is higher than first response medical aid, as a part of its firefighting function, is a natural and logical application of the case law precedent in Florida for fire rescue special assessments. Accordingly, the City's choice to fund its Fire Rescue Division with the imposition of a non-ad valorem special assessment is supported by the case law history in Florida.

The City's provision of fire and emergency medical services provides a special benefit to the assessed property. As this Court has recently recognized, a special benefit to property exists when there is a logical relationship between the special assessment and the benefit to property. In fact, this Court has already upheld special assessment programs for fire and rescue and for fire and ambulance services as conferring this special benefit to property. This case presents a natural and logical application of that precedent. The Fourth District Court, however, misapplied it.

Simply stated, the City's services provided through its Fire Rescue Division and funded with the special assessment are not general governmental services that cannot provide a special benefit to property. This Court, over the last 60 years, has made this conclusion quite clear. Only three years ago, this Court held that integrated fire and rescue services provided a special benefit to property. The Fourth District Court's interpretation of that holding in <u>Lake County v. Water Oak Management Corporation</u>, 695 So.

2d 667 (Fla. 1997), precludes the City from providing a higher level of rescue service and funding it with a special assessment. Such a result strains logic. According to the Fourth District Court, an individual firefighter can fight fires and provide initial medical treatment (rescue) and confer a special benefit to property. But, if that same firefighter fights fires, provides initial medical treatment (rescue), <u>and</u> is trained to provide more sophisticated medical treatment (advanced life support), the special benefit to property is diminished. This result ignores the case law in Florida as well as the reality of how firefighting units in this State operate.

The Fourth District Court also erred in its conclusion that the City's legislative findings of special benefit were arbitrary as a matter of law. Because of the constitutional separation of powers concepts, the judiciary's duty is to defer to legislative findings unless and until they are <u>proven</u> to be arbitrary. The trial court in this case found no such proof and ruled that the City's findings of special benefit were reasonable. In fact, even the Fourth District Court provides no factual reasons for why the City's findings were deemed to be arbitrary. The City believes that the Fourth District Court merely disagreed with the City's conclusions. Absent proof, such disagreement is insufficient authority for the court to substitute its judgement for that of the local legislative body.

Accordingly, this Court should reverse the holding of the Fourth District Court of Appeal and conclude that the City's fire rescue special assessment provides a special benefit to property.

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. THE CITY OF NORTH LAUDERDALE'S SPECIAL ASSESSMENT FOR FIRE RESCUE SERVICES CONFERS A SPECIAL BENEFIT TO REAL PROPERTY.

The City's special assessment for fire and rescue services fulfills the criteria for valid special assessments. A special assessment is a local government charge that is assessed against property because that property derives a special benefit from the expenditure of the money. <u>See Atlantic Coast Line R. Co. v. City of</u> <u>Gainesville</u>, 91 So. 118, 121 (Fla. 1922).<sup>5</sup> Special assessments may be imposed under the home rule powers of a county or municipality, without direct statutory authorization. <u>See City of Boca Raton v.</u> <u>State</u>, 595 So. 2d 25 (Fla. 1992). Such flexibility allows local governments to impose alternative revenue sources, like special assessments, to meet local needs and fit local facts.

Because a valid special assessment may be imposed under home rule powers alone, the rules for such assessments are generally derived from case law. Florida law requires that the assessed property derive a special benefit from the service or facility provided.<sup>6</sup> See City of Boca Raton v. State, 595 So. 2d 25, 29

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> By way of contrast, local governments use taxes, which must be levied pursuant to direct statutory authority to fund general governmental needs that are for the good of civilized society and provide only general benefits to the community. <u>See,</u> <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Klemm v. Davenport</u>, 129 So. 904, 907-08 (Fla. 1930) (contrasting special assessments with taxes); <u>Dressel v. Dade</u> <u>County</u>, 219 So. 2d 716, 720 (Fla. 3d DCA 1969), <u>affirmed</u>, 226 So. 2d 402 (Fla. 1969).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> Special assessments must also meet the "fair apportionment" test; the cost of providing the assessment program

(Fla. 1992). The provision of fire rescue services provides a special benefit to the assessed properties because a logical relationship exists between the use and enjoyment of property and the services provided. See Fire District No. 1 of Polk County v. Jenkins, 221 So. 2d 740 (Fla. 1969)(upholding a special assessment for fire services); South Trail Fire Control District, Sarasota County v. State, 273 So. 2d 380 (Fla. 1973)(upholding a special assessment for fire and ambulance services); Sarasota County v. Sarasota Church of Christ, 641 So. 2d 900 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994), rev'd on other grounds, 667 So. 2d 180 (Fla. 1995)(upholding a special assessment for fire and ambulance services); Lake County v. Water Oak Management Corp., 695 So. 2d 667 (Fla. 1997)(upholding a special assessment for fire and rescue services).

In addition to the special benefit concepts that this Court clarified in <u>Lake County v. Water Oak Management Corp.</u>, 695 So. 2d 667 (Fla. 1997), the Court has previously determined that a special benefit may exist in a variety of forms. For example, while the benefit required for a valid special assessment is evidenced by an increase in value, the special benefit concept also includes potential increases in value as well as enhanced use and enjoyment of property. <u>See Meyer v. City of Oakland Park</u>, 219 So. 2d 417 (Fla. 1969). In <u>Meyer</u>, the Court upheld a sewer assessment on both improved and unimproved property, stating that a benefit need not

must be fairly and reasonably apportioned among the benefited properties. <u>See City of Boca Raton v. State</u>, 595 So. 2d 25, 29 (Fla. 1992). No issue is raised in the appeal to this Court as to the "fair apportionment" test with respect to the City's special assessment for fire rescue.

be direct<sup>7</sup> nor immediate; but, the benefit must be substantial, certain, and capable of being realized within a reasonable time.

Furthermore, a special benefit need not be determined in relation to the current use of property. For example, in <u>City of</u> <u>Hallandale v. Meekins</u>, 237 So. 2d 318 (Fla. 4th DCA 1970), <u>aff'd</u>, 245 So. 2d 253 (Fla. 1971), a property owner challenged a sewer assessment, a portion of which the owner used as a parking lot. The court rejected the property owner's challenge and stated that "[t]he special benefit is the availability of the system and is permanent[.]" <u>Id.</u> at 322.

Finally, this Court declared in <u>Lake County v. Water Oak</u> <u>Management Corp.</u>, 695 So. 2d 667 (Fla. 1997), that "[i]n evaluating whether a special benefit is conferred to property by the services for which the assessment is imposed, the test is not whether the services confer a 'unique' benefit or are different in type or degree from the benefit provided to the community as a whole[.]" <u>Id.</u> at 669. The test, rather, "is whether there is a 'logical relationship' between the services provided and the benefit to real property." <u>Id.</u>

In this case, the Fourth District Court of Appeal appeared to recognize these rules as they relate to special benefit in Florida. Unfortunately, in the court's struggle to apply them, it misunderstood that the Florida courts have already paved the way

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> This Court recently commented that a reduction in insurance premiums and the protection of property values are direct benefits to property from consolidated fire rescue services. <u>See</u> <u>Collier County v. State</u>, 733 So. 2d 1012, 1018 (Fla. 1999).

for the City here; that is, the City's fire rescue special assessment provides a special benefit to property. The Fourth District Court erred in ruling otherwise.

#### II. THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL MISAPPLIED THE FLORIDA PRECEDENT ON FIRE AND RESCUE SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS.

After almost 60 years of published opinions on the issue of funding fire and medical (rescue) services with special assessments, the courts have created a continuum of valid and invalid fire rescue assessments. That continuum is as follows:

 "traditional" fire prevention, protection and suppression activities ("fire") confer a special benefit to property;

2. "traditional" fire services that also provide first response medical aid confer a special benefit to property;

3. "traditional" fire services that also provide emergency medical services confer a special benefit to property;

4. emergency medical services, without firefighting activities, may or may not, on a case-by-case basis provide a special benefit to property; and

5. a medical care facility, like a hospital, does not provide a special benefit to property.

The creation of this continuum began with <u>Crowder v. Phillips</u>, 1 So. 2d 629 (Fla. 1941), in which the Supreme Court of Florida held that a hospital was not a facility that could be funded by special assessments because the hospital did not confer a special benefit on the assessed property. Similarly, in <u>Whisnant v.</u> <u>Stringfellow</u>, 50 So. 2d 885 (Fla. 1951), the Supreme Court of Florida concluded that the construction of a county health unit could not be financed with special assessments because the facility did not confer a special benefit on property.<sup>8</sup> In 1969, the Supreme Court in <u>Fire Dist. No. 1 of Polk County v. Jenkins</u>, 221 So. 2d 740 (Fla. 1969), upheld the use of a special assessment to fund fire protection and control services because they conferred special benefits on property.

Four years later, the Supreme Court of Florida upheld a special assessment for fire and ambulance services. <u>See South</u> <u>Trail Fire Control Dist., Sarasota County v. State</u>, 273 So. 2d 380 (Fla. 1973). That very assessment was challenged 20 years later by non-residential property owners. The assessment was again upheld. <u>See Sarasota County v. Sarasota Church of Christ</u>, 667 So. 2d 180 (Fla. 1995). Two years after that, this Court upheld the consolidated fire rescue special assessment in the <u>Lake County</u> case. <u>See Lake County v. Water Oak Management Corp.</u>, 695 So. 2d 668 (Fla. 1997). In 1999, the Fourth District Court of Appeal upheld an assessment for fire and emergency medical services in the case of <u>City of Pembroke Pines v. McConaghey</u>, 728 So. 2d 347 (Fla.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Then, in 1962, the Supreme Court decided in the case of <u>St. Lucie County-Fort Pierce Fire Protection & Control Dist. v.</u> <u>Hiqqs</u>, 141 So. 2d 744 (Fla. 1962), that the fire control special assessments there were invalid because "no parcel of land was specially or peculiarly benefited in proportion to its value[.]" <u>Id.</u> at 746. Thus, the assessment failed because it was apportioned based on value, not because no special benefit was provided. <u>See Lake County v. Water Oak Management Corp.</u>, 695 So. 2d 667, 670 (Fla. 1997) ("[w]e disapproved the assessment in <u>Hiqqs</u> based on the assessment's failure to meet the apportionment prong rather than the special benefit prong.").

4th DCA 1999), <u>rev. denied</u>, 741 So. 2d 1136 (Fla. 1999). That assessment funded a fire and emergency medical services program which is nearly identical to the services provided by the City here. One year later, that same Fourth District Court invalidated the assessment in this case.

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