IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-1555

CITY OF NORTH LAUDERDALE,

Petitioner,

VS.

SMM PROPERTIES, INC., et al.,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

GUNSTER, YOAKLEY & STEWART, P.A. One Biscayne Tower 2 South Biscayne Blvd., Suite 3400 Miami, FL 33131 and CARUSO, BURLINGTON, BOHN & COMPIANI, P.A. Suite 3A/Barristers Bldg. 1615 Forum Place West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Tel: (561) 686-8010 Attorneys for Respondents

CERTIFICATE OF TYPE SIZE AND STYLE

Respondents, SMM Properties, Inc., et al., hereby certify that the type size and style of this brief is 14 point Times New Roman.

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fourth District correctly held that emergency medical services do not provide a special benefit to property. Emergency medical services differ from first response medical aid. The latter, which is part-and-parcel of the services rendered by firefighters, provides on-the-scene medical care until the emergency medical crew arrives. Fire protection services, including first response medical aid for which there is no additional charge to the property owner, have been held to provide a special benefit to real property. However, emergency medical services, which involve the assessment, treatment and transportation of injured persons to the hospital, provide a benefit to people, not property. Emergency medical services and transport are essential to the health and well-being of all citizens. §401.211 Fla. Stat. Accordingly the assessment for emergency medical services is an ad valorem tax dressed up as a special assessment, and was correctly declared invalid.

The Fourth District also correctly held that LAKE COUNTY v. WATER OAK MANAGEMENT CORP., 695 So.2d 667 (Fla. 1997) dealt with first response medical aid and not emergency medical services. Therefore, that case does not provide authority, as the City claims, for holding that emergency medical services can be the subject of a special assessment.

Even if the "logical relationship" test is applicable, there is no logical relationship between emergency medical services and a benefit to real property. In fact, COLLIER COUNTY v. STATE OF FLORIDA, 733 So.2d 1012 (Fla. 1999) held that emergency medical services do not provide a special benefit to real property. It is also the property owners' contention that COLLIER retreated from the "logical relationship" test and returned to the "unique benefit" test. Regardless of which test is applicable, emergency medical services fail to meet either test.

Since the City Council's conclusion that emergency medical services benefit real property is legally incorrect and arbitrary, the Fourth District did not err in reversing that determination.

ARGUMENT

CERTIFIED QUESTION NUMBER 1

DO EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES (EMS) PROVIDE A SPECIAL BENEFIT TO PROPERTY?

Based upon the property owners' arguments set forth, <u>infra</u>, the first certified question must be answered in the negative.

A) Distinguishing Between a Special Assessment and a Tax

Florida's Constitution protects Florida property owners and taxpayers by limiting local governments in their ability to impose ad valorem (real property and personal property) taxes, the only form of taxation constitutionally committed to use by local governments. Florida taxpayers are guaranteed millage caps (10 mils) on ad valorem taxes (Article VII, §9(b) Fla. Const.) and their homesteads are exempt from the levy of such taxes (Article VII, §6(a) Fla. Const.). Accordingly, Florida's Constitution assures its taxpayers that, without voter approval, local governments may not tax their properties to fund operations beyond set limits.

The exception to this taxpayer protection lies in "assessments for special benefits," (Article VII, §6 <u>Fla</u>. <u>Const</u>.), where unlike the millage cap on ad valorem taxes, there is no cap on the amount that can be assessed for special benefits. LAKE HOWELL WATER & RECLAMATION DISTRICT v. STATE, 268 So.2d 897, 899

(Fla. 1972). Unpaid special assessments also become liens on the property assessed.² Accordingly, it is imperative for Florida courts to enforce its citizens' constitutionally guaranteed rights by precluding local governments from circumventing those rights by simply labeling something as a special assessment when it is actually a tax. The courts must scrutinize special assessments to assure that they are not for services whose revenue should be raised through ad valorem taxes, with its constitutional limitations on government taxing and spending.

To properly evaluate the validity of a special assessment, the differences between a special assessment and a tax must be addressed. In CITY OF BOCA RATON v. STATE, 595 So.2d 25 (Fla. 1992) and SARASOTA COUNTY v. SARASOTA CHURCH OF CHRIST, 641 So.2d 900 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994), reversed on other grounds, 667 So.2d 180 (Fla. 1995) the court explained those differences. Taxes are levied throughout a particular taxing unit for the general benefit of residents and property, and are imposed under the theory that a contribution must be made by the community at large to support the various functions of the government. Consequently, many citizens may pay a tax to support a particular government function from which they receive no direct benefit. Conversely, special assessments

 $^{^{2}}$ /The City's Fire Rescue Assessment Ordinance provides that assessment is a lien on the property assessed (Ex#4, §209). Section 3.02 of the Ordinance gives the City the right to foreclose on property for nonpayment of the special assessment, and to also recover attorney's fees and costs associated with the foreclosure action (Ex#4).

must confer a specific benefit on the land burdened by the assessment, and are imposed under the theory that the portion of the community that bears the cost of the assessment will receive a special benefit from the improvement or services for which the assessment is levied. 595 So.2d at 29, 667 So.2d at 183.

Although a special assessment is typically imposed for a specific purpose designed to benefit a specific area or class of property owners, this Court has previously held that this does not mean that the cost of services can never be levied throughout a community as a whole. 595 So.2d at 183. Rather, the validity of a special assessment turns on whether the real properties assessed are recipients of a special benefit, regardless of whether those benefits are spread throughout an entire community, rather than located in a limited, specific area within the community. <u>Id</u>. at 183.

1) Special Assessments Must Meet a Two-Pronged Constitutionality Test

A valid special assessment must meet two requirements: (1) the <u>real property</u> assessed must derive a special benefit from the service provided, and; (2) the assessment must be fairly and reasonably apportioned among the assessed properties according to the benefits received. SARASOTA COUNTY v. SARASOTA CHURCH OF CHRIST, 667 So.2d at 183. In evaluating whether a special benefit is conferred upon property by the services for which the assessment is imposed, this Court stated in LAKE COUNTY v. WATER OAK MANAGEMENT CORP., 695

So.2d 667 (Fla. 1997) that the test is not whether the services confer a "unique" benefit or one different in type or degree from the benefit provided to the community as a whole, nor does the benefit have to be a direct one, said the Court. <u>Id</u>. at 669. Rather, the Court stated the test is whether there is a "logical relationship" between the services provided and the benefit to real property. <u>Id</u>.

Two years later, in COLLIER COUNTY v. STATE, 733 So.2d 1012 (Fla. 1999), the Court appeared to retreat from the "logical relationship" test and return to a requirement that the services funded by a special assessment provide a direct, special or unique benefit to real property. It is the property owner's position in this case that, regardless of whether the "logical relationship" test or the "unique benefit" test is applied, emergency medical services do not provide the type of special or peculiar benefit required to enhance the value of real property in order to meet the first prong of the constitutionality test (discussed more fully, <u>infra</u>).

B) <u>Improvements and Services Which Have Been Held to Provide a Special</u> <u>Benefit</u>

The following type services and improvements have been held to provide the requisite <u>special benefit</u> for the imposition of a special assessment: garbage collection and disposal, [CHARLOTTE COUNTY v. FISKE, 350 So.2d 578 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977)]; sewer improvements, [CITY OF HALLANDALE v. MEEKINS, 237 So.2d 318 (Fla. 4th DCA 1970), <u>aff[°]d</u>. 245 So.2d (Fla. 1971); MEYER v. CITY OF

OAKLAND PARK, 219 So.2d 417 (Fla. 1969)]; solid waste disposal, [HARRIS v. WILSON, 693 So.2d 945 (Fla. 1997)]; street improvements, [ATLANTIC COAST LINE R. CO. v. CITY OF GAINESVILLE, 91 So. 118 (Fla. 1922); BODNER v. CITY OF CORAL GABLES, 245 So.2d 250 (Fla. 1971); STATE OF FLORIDA v. SARASOTA COUNTY, 693 So.2d 546 (Fla. 1997); SARASOTA COUNTY v. SARASOTA CHURCH OF CHRIST, INC., <u>supra.</u>];³ fire protection; [FIRE DISTRICT NO. 1 OF POLK COUNTY v. JENKINS, 221 So.2d 740 (Fla. 1969)]; fire protection and first response medical aid; [LAKE COUNTY v. WATER OAK MANAGEMENT CORP., <u>supra.</u>]

1) <u>Fire Protection Services, Which Have Been Held to Provide a Special</u> <u>Benefit to Real Property, Encompass First Response Medical Aid</u>

Case law is well established that fire control or fire protection services create a benefit to real property because its value is enhanced as a result of the protection

³/SARASOTA COUNTY v. SARASOTA CHURCH OF CHRIST, INC., 641 So.2d 900 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994) involved stormwater utility services and "fire rescue". The Second District found that "rescue" was synonymous in that case with ambulance services, <u>Id</u>. at 902, and held that the church was estopped to challenge the fire-rescue assessment since it had "paid, seemingly without protest" for an assessment for those same services for many years. Accordingly, it did not reach the issue of whether ambulance services could be the bases of a special assessment. <u>Id</u>. at 902. For that reason, upon review by this Court, it merely addressed the assessment for stormwater utility services, and did not address whether the assessment for ambulance services was valid. SARASOTA COUNTY v. SARASOTA CHURCH OF CHRIST, 667 So.2d 180 (Fla. 1995). Likewise, in SOUTH TRAIL FIRE CONTROL DISTRICT, SARASOTA COUNTY v. STATE, 273 So.2d 380 (Fla. 1973), this Court did address whether an assessment for ambulance services was valid since the only issue before the Court was the validity of the appointment of the special assessment.

against fire damage, and because fire insurance premiums on the property are decreased. FIRE DISTRICT NO. 1 OF POLK COUNTY, <u>supra</u>. Also, fire protection, in combination with first response medical aid, has also been held to benefit the property assessed. LAKE COUNTY v. WATER OAK MANAGEMENT CORP., <u>supra</u>. As the Fourth District held, however, "first response medical aid" is one of the routine duties of a firefighter. Firefighters are certified by the Fire Marshall's office of the Department of Insurance pursuant to §633.35(2) <u>Fla</u>. <u>Stat</u>. and their primary responsibility is the prevention and extinguishment of fires, the protection and saving of life and property, and enforcement of fire prevention codes. §633.30 <u>Fla</u>. <u>Stat</u>.

The training of a firefighter requires 40 hours of first response medical aid. <u>Fla</u>. <u>Admin</u>. <u>Code</u> §4A-37.055(21). Pursuant to Florida statutes, a person who provides first response medical aid is defined as someone who must have training to render initial care to an ill or injured person, but who does not have the primary responsibility of either treating or transporting that person, §401.435 (1) <u>Fla</u>. <u>Stat</u>. First response medical aid is routinely provided by policemen, firefighters, lifeguards and certain volunteer organizations, all of which render "as part of their <u>routine</u> functions, onscene patient care <u>before</u> emergency technicians or paramedics arrive." §401.435(2) <u>Fla</u>. <u>Stat</u>. In this case, the City filed an affidavit of the Fire Chief which admitted that the first response medical aid services provided by the firefighters and the emergency medical care and transport services provided by the County are separate and distinct (R5:916).

6. The rescue component of the consolidated program provides on-scene medical stabilization at the property locations at which they are called. Emergency Medical Services (EMS) and transport are provided through a twoyear contractual arrangement with Broward County Government.... (emphasis added)

There is a tremendous distinction between first response medical aid, which is a service provided as part and parcel of a firefighter's normal training and duties, and the emergency medical services (EMS) and transport services provided by the County through its contract with the City. The latter services are not part of the firefighter's routine duties. They are provided by the County's emergency medical technicians or paramedics who have the primary responsibility of treating and transporting an ill or injured person to the hospital. The fact that the County's paramedics are also trained as firefighters is irrelevant. When they arrive on-the-scene, they do not fight fires. They provide medical care for patients. When acting in their role of providing emergency medical services and transport services to the hospital they are acting in a health care capacity, which constitutes a benefit to people, not real property. This is evidenced by the legislative intent set forth in the Emergency Medical Transportation Services Act, §401.211 Fla. Stat.:

The legislature recognizes that the systematic provision of emergency medical services saves lives and reduces disability associated with illness and injury...[s]uch services are essential to the <u>health and well-being of all citizens of the state</u>. The purpose of this part is to protect and enhance the <u>public's health</u>, welfare and safety through the establishment of an emergency medical services state plan...and statewide inspection program created to monitor the quality of patient care. (emphasis added)

As the legislature has clearly recognized, the provision of emergency medical and transport services is a benefit to all citizens, not real property owners. It does not matter whether those services are provided by the firefighters or by the County in this case, they are not assessable. None of the above-cited cases dealing with assessments for fire control and first response medical services have ever held that emergency medical services are valid special assessments against real property.

It seems so clear that unlike fire protection services, emergency medical services benefit people, not real property. Emergency medical services are not unlike police protection, which is a governmental function essential to the public welfare, and which cannot be assessed against property owners. There is even language in this Court's LAKE COUNTY opinion which leads to that conclusion (695 So.2d at 670):

...Clearly, services such as general law enforcement activities, the provision of courts, and indigent <u>health care</u> are, like fire protection services, functions required for an organized society. However, unlike fire protection, those services provide no direct, special benefit to real property. Thus, such services cannot be the subject of a special assessment....

C) <u>LAKE COUNTY v. WATER OAK MANAGEMENT CORP. Concerned</u> <u>First Response Medical Aid, Not Emergency Medical Services</u>

While the City claims that this Court's opinion in LAKE COUNTY is "directly on point" (Petitioner's brief p.14), it clearly is not. LAKE COUNTY involved a special assessment for solid waste disposal and fire protection. The County consolidated all its separate fire control districts into a single unit and assessed all property owners within the County. The property owners argued that the fire protection services did not provide a special benefit because everyone in the County had access to fire protection services. The Fifth District agreed since the special benefit provided by the fire protection services was not different in type or degree from the benefit provided the community as a whole. WATER OAK MANAGEMENT v. LAKE COUNTY, 673 So.2d 135 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996).⁴

(continued...)

⁴/In footnote 8, the Fifth District questioned whether first response medical aid was a benefit to the property, stating (673 So.2d at 138):

Fire services provide a benefit. Less clear, however, is why first response medical care is a benefit *to the property*, unless "removing a sick person from the property" is the benefit. If that is so, then the removal of bad people from property by law enforcement would be a benefit justifying special assessment funding for police protection. The county's recording function presumably also is fundable by special assessment as a service *to the property*. Even the courts, under the same reasoning, could be funded by special assessment since the

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